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Staff Report   
City of Manhattan Beach 

  
 

TO:  Honorable Mayor Montgomery and Members of the City Council 
 
THROUGH: Richard Thompson, Interim City Manager 
 
FROM: Jim Arndt, Director of Public Works  
  Steve Finton, City Engineer 
   
DATE: November 16, 2010 
 
SUBJECT: Consideration to Approve an Agreement with Moffatt & Nichol for Structural 

Inspection Services to Assess the Condition of the Manhattan Beach Pier 
($89,826) 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that City Council approve an agreement with Moffatt & Nichol in the amount of 
$89,826 to perform a full structural inspection of the pier. 
 
FISCAL IMPLICATION: 
Funding for this project in the amount of $90,000 was appropriated for this project through the 
fiscal year 2010-11 Capital Improvement Program (CIP). 
 

BUDGET 
FY2010-11 CIP; Project # 11839E; State Pier and Parking Fund $90,000.00 

TOTAL BUDGET $90,000.00 
 

EXPENDITURES 
Moffatt & Nichol Inspection Services $89,826.00 
ESTIMATED BALANCE AFTER COMPLETION  $174.00 

 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Manhattan Beach Pier is a reinforced concrete structure constructed between 1917 and 1920. 
In the 1950s, the County of Los Angeles completed a major repair project where pneumatically 
placed concrete was placed on areas showing deterioration.  This project resulted in an almost 
freeform shape of the piles and girders.  In the 1980s, corrosion in the reinforcing steel caused 
concrete to spall from the structure causing hazardous conditions for persons walking under the 
pier.  In 1988, the City entered into an operating agreement with the State of California where the 
City took over maintenance responsibilities for the pier.  Also in 1988, a full structural 
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assessment of the pier was conducted that identified structural deficiencies and recommended 
rehabilitation.  In 1992, the latest major rehabilitation project was completed.  This project 
included the full removal and replacement of the pier deck and much of the support structure.  
Other than lights and railing repairs, this was the last significant rehabilitation work performed 
on the pier and no further condition assessments have been conducted. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The pier is subjected to large recurring wave forces and exists in a corrosive marine environment 
where structural deterioration is accelerated.  It is recommended that a recurring inspection 
program be initiated for the pier such that deterioration can be detected early and mitigated 
efficiently. 
 
Request for Proposals 
On August 3, 2010, the City issued a request for proposals (RFP) for inspection of the pier.  The 
RFP requested that consultants recommend an inspection regimen conforming to National Bridge 
Inspection Standards (NBIS).  Three proposals were received on September 15, 2010. 
 
A committee of City staff reviewed the proposals received and conducted interviews with each 
respondent.  Staff evaluated the level of firm experience, the proposed inspection regimen and 
the cost effectiveness of the proposed regimen. Staff ranked the firms and proposals as follows: 
 

1. Moffatt & Nichol ($89,864) 
2. URS Corporation ($81,430) 
3. Halcrow ($55,313) 

 
Staff recommends entering into an agreement with Moffatt & Nichol to perform the inspection.  
Moffatt & Nichol is the firm that conducted the inspection in 1988 and designed the 1992 pier 
rehabilitation.  Moffatt & Nichol propose to use staff members that were involved in the 1992 
project that demonstrate intimate knowledge of the pier.  Additionally, the 1992 rehabilitation 
project has performed very well for 18 years which is a testament to the expertise of Moffatt & 
Nichol.  Staff believes Moffatt & Nichols’s superior demonstrated expertise warrants their higher 
fee to inspect this important landmark. The proposed inspection regimen includes the following: 
 

• Structure Monitoring  -  Land survey to establish control points on the pier to detect any 
vertical or horizontal movement over time. 

• Above Water Inspection  -  Inspection of deck, railing, utilities, understructure and piles 
above the water line to detect deterioration, cracking, spalling and/or corrosion. 

• Underwater Inspection  -  Use of dive vessel and divers to inspect piles underwater.  This 
task will include a full hands-on inspection of all wet piles from the ocean bottom to the 
water line.  Additionally, marine growth would be removed by divers on 10% of wet 
piles at three one-foot horizontal strips to detect any cracking, spalling and/or loss of pile 
girth.  

• As built Plans  -  Development of a full as-built plan for the pier including locations of 
current deterioration. 

• Inspection report and Cost Estimate for Recommended Repairs. 
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Typically, marine structures are inspected biennially with a full in-depth inspection every 5 years. 
The proposed inspection regimen would be a starting point for a recurrening inspection program. 
Upon completion of the recommended inspection contract by Moffatt & Nichol, staff will have 
better knowledge of the condition of the pier.  Although staff does not detect any significant 
deterioration on the pier at this time, it is possible that the recommended inspection may identify 
deterioration that would require rehabilitation.  The level and location of the deterioration would 
dictate whether the repairs be performed immediately or through future CIPs. 
 
Attachment A: Moffatt & Nichol Proposal 
 
xc: Henry Mitzner, Controller 
  
























































